THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

DEC 22 2015

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES

SC Court of Appeals

CASE NO: 2015-001491

H. H. VONHARTEN,

Appellant,

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA
DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James H. Moss, Esquire, Bar #4220
1501 North Street
Post Office Drawer 507
Beaufort, South Carolina 29901
(843) 524-3373
(843) 524-1301 facsimile
South Carolina Bar #4220

Frank L. Valenta, Jr., Bar # 5682
General Counsel
Philip S. Porter, Bar #4526
Deputy General Counsel
Brandy A. Duncan, Bar # 72052
Assistant General Counsel
South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles
10311 Wilson Boulevard

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE HEARING OFFICER'S ADMISSION OF HEARSAY STATEMENTS OF A DOCTOR PURSUANT TO SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF EVIDENCE 803(4)?

- II. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE HEARING OFFICER'S FAILURE TO CONSIDER REASONABLE, LESS RESTRICTIVE ALTERNATIVES TO REVOCATION?

- III. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRONEOUSLY RELY UPON A TEN YEAR OLD DRIVING CITATION TO CONCLUDE THAT MR. VONHARTEN IS UNABLE TO OPERATE A VEHICLE SAFELY

- IV. DID THE HEARING OFFICER ERRONEOUSLY GIVE GREATER WEIGHT TO DR. MAZZEO'S LETTERS THAN TO THE EVIDENCE THAT THE APPELLANT PASSED ALL STATE REQUIREMENTS FOR LICENSING?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By letter dated December 31, 2013, Neurologist Dr. Paul Mazzeo reported to the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles (SCDMV) that Herman Vonharten (“Vonharten” or “Appellant”) “should have his driver’s license revoked.” He based this opinion on two examples provided to him by unnamed “family members”.

The SCDMV responded to this report by sending Mr. Vonharten a letter dated January 17, 2014, advising that “[t]he SC Department of Motor Vehicles, Driver Improvement Office has received information indicating that your medical condition to safely operate a motor vehicle may be inadequate to warrant continuance of your driving privileges.” The letter further communicated that Appellant and his physician were required to complete enclosed medical statements and that he may thereafter be required to demonstrate his “knowledge, skills and ability to exercise ordinary and reasonable control in the operation of a motor vehicle.”

Sometime thereafter, Mr. Vonharten went to Beaufort Memorial Hospital’s Occupational Therapy Driving Related Skills Assessment. On February 27, 2014, Mr. Vonharten attended the assessment with mixed results. In addition, Mr. Vonharten and his primary physician Samuel Little filled out the forms provided by the SCDMV and returned them to the Department. The Department thereafter notified Mr. Vonharten that it needed additional information and that he would have to be tested for vision, knowledge and skills. Mr. Vonharten provided additional documents and was retested at the SCDMV on June 3, 2014, qualifying him for a noncommercial driver’s license. On

June 5, 2014, Dr. Mazzeo (who last saw Mr. Vonharten in March 2014) wrote a second letter to the SCDMV, describing his unnamed "family members" concerns.

On June 6, 2014, SCDMV notified Mr. Vonharten that his records were being forwarded to the SCDMV's Medical Advisory Board ("MAB") for review. The MAB apparently decided (on the materials that it was provided) that Mr. Vonharten was "disqualified" from driving, and the SCDMV notified Mr. Vonharten that his privileges were to be revoked as of August 6, 2014. Mr. Vonharten appealed from that decision, retaining attorney Robert Ferguson to represent him at the Office of Administrative Hearings before Hearing Officer Brigitte Autry. A hearing was held on September 24, 2014. Testifying for the SCDMV was Pearl Artis of the Driver Improvement Office. Mr. Vonharten and his daughter Laura Vonharten also testified. No medical professionals were present at the hearing.

Hearing Officer Autry issued her decision sustaining Mr. Vonharten's revocation on December 1, 2014. Mr. Vonharten appealed that decision on December 29, 2014 on several grounds, including a challenge to the admission of Dr. Mazzeo's letters of December 31, 2013 and June 5, 2014. Additionally, Appellant challenged the Hearing Officer's failure to consider that a second opinion was warranted, that she failed to consider other reasonable, less restrictive alternatives to revocation, the crediting of motor vehicle records that were more than ten years old; and her failure to credit that objective fact that Mr. Vonharten had an excellent driving record and had passed all of the requirements that other licensed drivers in South Carolina must pass to retain a driver's license.

Thereafter, Administrative Law Judge Deborah Brooks Durden affirmed Hearing Officer Autry's Final Order and Decision on June 9, 2015. Vonharten requested Reconsideration, additionally citing the fact that the Mazzeo letters were not authenticated. Judge Durden Denied the Motion for Reconsideration on July 7, 2015. Vonharten filed Notice of Appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on July 14, 2015.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Herman H. Vonharten is an 84 year old man who was recently separated from his wife. (R. p. 63, lines 20-22.) He has been a licensed driver since he was 16 years old. (R. p. 54, line 22.) He has had no accidents or citations in the past ten years, and has no points on his license. (R. p. 51, lines 6-23.) He lives alone, manages his own financial and legal affairs, and volunteers for a variety of organizations. (R. p. 58, lines 19-25.) His 68 year old daughter sees him daily. (R. p. 58, line 10.) She reports that she has not observed deficits in his ability to operate a motor vehicle, other than stiffness in his neck. (R. p. 58, lines 14-16.)

Other unidentified members of Mr. Vonharten's family, however, apparently expressed concerns to his former neurologist, Dr. Paul Mazzeo that his driving might be impaired by his cognitive deficits. Dr. Mazzeo, prompted by these unidentified family members, and **without Mr. Vonharten's knowledge or consent**, wrote a letter to the Department of Motor Vehicles ("DMV") Driver Improvement Office opining that Mr.

Vonharten should have his driving privileges revoked. By letter dated December 31, 2013, Dr. Mazzeo reported "His family has alerted me to several concerns regarding his driving" and concluded "I believe he should have his driver's license revoked." He closes that letter by asking the Department to "keep this source of information confidential." (R.p. 66.) Dr. Mazzeo did not couch the opinion as one he had to a reasonable degree of medical certainty or to any other objective standard.

In response to Dr. Mazzeo's letter, on January 17, 2014, the Driver Improvement Office ("DIO") requested that Mr. Vonharten complete a medical questionnaire within thirty days. (R. p. 69.) Mr. Vonharten responded by voluntarily submitting to an "Occupational Therapy Driving Related Skills Assessment" on February 27, 2014 at Beaufort Memorial Hospital. He wrote a letter to the Driver Improvement Office on February 17, 2014 informing the Office that he would have an appointment on February 20 and would send a report at that time. Additionally, he noted "I am still curious on what I did while driving." (R. p.72.) In April, Mr. Vonharten voluntarily attended a Defensive Driver Program at Best Driver Training, LLC, and was given a certificate indicating satisfactory performance. (R. p. 80..) He thereafter went to the Department of Motor Vehicles and passed the vision, knowledge and skills tests required for all licensed South Carolina drivers. (R. pp. 91-92.)

Mr. Vonharten also complied with providing medical statements as requested by the Driver Improvement Office, and his driving privileges were restored on June 3, 2014. (R.p.81.)

On June 5, 2014 Dr. Mazzeo, once again apparently at the urging of unidentified family members, wrote a second letter expressing his opinion that Mr. Vonharten should

not be allowed to drive. (R. p. 94.) On June 6, 2014, the DMV referred the matter to its Medical Advisory Board and suspended Mr. Vonharten's privileges in the interim. (R. p. 95.) On July 10, 2014, the Medical Advisory Board, without interviewing Mr. Vonharten, and relying on Dr. Mazzeo's statements, recommended that his privileges be revoked. (R. p. 100.) The DMV then notified Mr. Vonharten that his privileges were being revoked effective August 9, 2014 pursuant to SC Code 56-1-270. (R. p. 101.) In the notice of revocation, the Department gave no indication of what, if anything, Mr. Vonharten could do to reverse the Department's decision. The notice simply instructs that the "ending date" of his revocation was "When you receive a notice from the Department that this action has been cleared". Additionally, the notice indicates "There are no special driving privileges available to you. You may not drive until the suspension period has ended..." The notice goes on to demand additional unspecified "satisfactory medical statements" and successful completion of "the vision, knowledge and skills tests", which Mr. Vonharten had successfully done one month earlier. (R. p. 101.)

ARGUMENT

I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE HEARING OFFICER'S ADMISSION OF HEARSAY STATEMENTS OF A DOCTOR PURSUANT TO SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF EVIDENCE 803(4)?

It is unquestionable that Dr. Mazzeo's letters were hearsay; in fact, the statements he relayed in the letters were hearsay within hearsay. The Hearing Officer's conclusion, and the affirmation of that finding by the Administrative Law Court, that the letters were admissible was plain error, misreading the intent of the medical records exception to the hearsay rule.

Under South Carolina Rules of Evidence:

Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute.

Rule 802, SCRE.

The Medical Records Exception reads as follows:

Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain or sensations, or the inception or the general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment; provided, however, that the admissibility of statements made after the commencement of litigation is left to the court's discretion.

Rule 803(4), SCRE.

This exception does not permit hearsay statements of a doctor; it applies only to words uttered to a doctor by the patient. *State v. Camele*, 293 S.C. 302, 360 S.E.2d 307 (1987).

The imprimatur of admissible evidence is reliability. The rule against hearsay arises from an acknowledgment that utterances outside of court, when offered in court to prove the truth of the matter asserted, must be subjected to tests of reliability. The prohibition against hearsay is eased by the exceptions to the Hearsay rule. While there are few South Carolina cases extant that address this directly, the Fourth Circuit provides guidance in *Willingham v. Crooke*, 412 F.3rd 553 (2005). In that case, the Court instructed that Federal Rules of Evidence 803(4) “is premised on the notion that a declarant seeking treatment has a selfish motive to be truthful because the effectiveness of medical treatment depends upon the accuracy of the information provided. (Citing Jack B. Weinstein & Margaret A. Berger, *Weinstein’s Federal Evidence* § 803.06[1] (Joseph M. McLaughlin, ed., 2d ed. 2004). In *Morgan v. Foretich*, 846 F.2d 941 (1988), the Court described the 803(4) exception as “based on the rationale the ‘the declarant’s motive guarantees [the statements] trustworthiness’ since treatment will depend on what is reported,” also citing *Weinstein and Berger*.

These cases make it clear that 803(4) exceptions relate only to utterances of a patient to a doctor. The exception does not bootstrap up to include a letter that a doctor sends to the SCDMV. If Dr. Mazzeo wanted to prove that Mr. Vonharten should not drive, he should have been present, under oath, to offer an opinion with reasonable medical certainty, and subject to cross examination. The letters, without more, are akin to gossip, even down to Dr. Mazzeo’s request—made in both letters-- that the SCDMV not tell anyone that he told them.

The letters from Dr. Mazzeo to the SCDMV were the only source of the state’s concern about Mr. Vonharten’s driving. Without Dr. Mazzeo, there simply was no

reason to challenge Mr. Vonharten's driving privileges. He had no points on his license and had no motor vehicle incidents since a failure to yield the right of way in 2005. His last accident (with damage less than \$1,000, according to his driver's record) was in 2003. Both of these incidents occurred a decade before his diagnosis for early Alzheimer's. Since those letters were inadmissible in the first instance, and they were central to every administrative decision that led to Mr. Vonharten's revocation, the Administrative Law Court's affirmation of the Hearing Officer's conclusion should be reversed.

Dr. Mazzeo's comments, and his relaying comments made by "family members" is not a Statement for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment, which would render the documents admissible. It is an opinion motivated by the bias of family members, untested by cross examination or even adopted by Dr. Mazzeo in a manner that would have allowed Mr. Vonharten to attack it in the Court, his last arena of hope for maintaining his driving privileges. The Administrative Law Court, the Hearing Officer, the Department of Motor Vehicles Office of Driver Improvement and the Medical Advisory Board were in error in their reliance on his statements, and in fact, if they had not, Mr. Vonharten would be a licensed driver today.

II. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE HEARING OFFICER'S FAILURE TO CONSIDER REASONABLE, LESS RESTRICTIVE ALTERNATIVES TO REVOCATION?

The Hearing Officer was offered a number of reasonable opportunities to stop short of full revocation of Mr. Vonharten's driving privilege. Mr. Vonharten and his counsel acknowledged that Mr. Vonharten has some physical limitations, including hypertension, diabetes, and early dementia. As suggested by counsel, there are a great number of restrictions that could be

imposed on his privileges, similar to those placed on young drivers, in fact that is contemplated as a reasonable alternative in the SCDMV literature at DMV.com, *Senior Drivers in South Carolina* (<http://www.dmv.com/sc/south-carolina/senior-drivers>). The limitations should reflect a reasonable relationship to his abilities.

As his daughter testified, and as demonstrated by the fact that it has been ten years since he was last cited, and the fact that he passed every aspect of the driver's test in June, 2014, Mr. Vonharten can, and did, drive safely. However, reasonable alternatives to revocation were not addressed in the Hearing officer's findings and conclusions. She settled on full revocation, when other less restrictive measures would have secured the public interest in having safe roads, and Mr. Vonharten's liberty interest in having limited driving privileges. For example, Counsel suggested limiting Mr. Vonharten to:

"a restricted license. And those would include no night driving, no interstate driving, neighborhood driving not to exceed 50 miles per hour, no driving between 7:30 a.m. and 9:30 a.m., 4:30 to 7:00 p.m., and any other restrictions you deem appropriate." (R. p. 62, lines 2-17.)

The Administrative Law Court Order notes that the Hearing Officer was not *required* to adopt the license restrictions proposed at the hearing. In light of the magnitude of the loss to Mr. Vonharten, however, it would have been consistent with notions of justice to do so. The all-or-nothing approach adopted at the Office of Motor Vehicle Hearings and upheld on appeal to the ALC ignored the tribunal's ability to fashion a remedy that respects Mr. Vonharten's rights while protecting the state's interest in maintaining safety. The disregard afforded to Mr. Vonharten does not comport with fundamental notions of fairness, as is required when one is confronted with losing a

property right such as a driver's license. *City of Spartanburg v. Parris*, 251 S. C. 187, 161 S.E.2d 228 (1968).

III. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRONEOUSLY RELY UPON A TEN YEAR OLD DRIVING CITATION TO CONCLUDE THAT MR. VONHARTEN IS UNABLE TO OPERATE A VEHICLE SAFELY

Under South Carolina and United States Supreme Court cases, "A person's interest in his driver's license is property that a state may not take away without satisfying the requirements of due process." *Hipp v. South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles*, 381 S.C. 323 (2009), citing *Bell v. Burson*, 402 U.S. 535, 91 S.Ct.1586, 29 L.Ed.2d 90 (1971). In *Hipp*, the South Carolina Supreme Court found that the SCDMV was enjoined from suspending the Plaintiff's driver's license pursuant to a Georgia conviction that occurred some twelve years earlier. The Court noted that inherent in due process is "fundamental fairness", and holding the Plaintiff accountable for an infraction that occurred a decade earlier did not comport with that standard.

In this case the Administrative Law Court, while not specifically commenting, apparently found it persuasive that Mr. Vonharten's Medical and Accident History form was not correct. Mr. Vonharten's recollection of his last accident was that it occurred in 1995, when in fact it occurred in 2003. If the purpose of noting the error was to demonstrate ineligibility to drive, it was inapt. The fact is, Mr. Vonharten has not had an accident or a citation in over a decade. The overwhelmingly reasonable conclusion to reach is that Mr. Vonharten has a tendency in recent years to be a cautious and safer driver. His lack of citations or accidents in the past decade mitigate in favor of a less drastic result than complete and permanent revocation of Mr. Vonharten's privileges.

Moreover, the notion of fundamental fairness is offended by the SCDMV's July 10, 2014 notice of revocation under S.C. Code Ann. 56-1-270. In that notice, Mr. Vonharten is provided with no guidance as to how he might become qualified to drive again. The "ending date" of the revocation period is described as "When you receive notice from the Department that this action has been cleared." It is axiomatic as a matter of due process, that when the government acts to deprive a citizen of a protected property interest, it must prescribe some method by which the deprivation can be lifted. *City of Spartanburg v. Parris*, 251 S. C. 187, 161 S.E.2d 228 (1968).

All that remained for Mr. Vonharten was a series of appeals of the decision. He had already done everything in his power to avoid the revocation, to no avail. Mr. Vonharten's powerlessness to attack the revocation, or at least be told what standard he must meet in order to restore his physical qualification to drive, deprived him of fundamental fairness, and it should be reversed.

IV. DID THE HEARING OFFICER ERRONEOUSLY GIVE GREATER WEIGHT TO DR. MAZZEO'S LETTERS THAN TO THE EVIDENCE THAT THE APPELLANT PASSED ALL STATE REQUIREMENTS FOR LICENSING?

It takes little more than common sense to empathize that a senior citizen faced with permanent revocation of driving privileges feels the loss profoundly. Obtaining driving privileges is a rite of passage for Americans. It represents mobility, freedom, and independence. Those privileges should not be removed from an accident-free, uncited elderly gentlemen on nothing more than the speculative, unproven letter filled with hearsay of one doctor. Dr. Mazzeo's opinion runs in the face of objective evidence available to the Hearing Officer. The objective evidence is that Mr. Vonharten has driven