RECEIVED
JAN 08 2016
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Administrative Law Court

The Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001491

H.H. Vonharten Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

FRANK L. VALENTA, JR., SC Bar # 5682
General Counsel
PHILIP S. PORTER, SC Bar #4526
Deputy General Counsel
BRANDY A. DUNCAN, SC Bar # 72052
Assistant General Counsel
South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles
10311 Wilson Boulevard
Post Office Box 1498
Blythewood, South Carolina 29016-0020
Telephone: (803) 896-9900

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

ARGUMENT

1. THE RECORD CONTAINS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUFFICIENT TO UPHOLD THE HEARING OFFICER'S FINDINGS.

The Department of Motor Vehicles' actions were triggered by correspondence from Dr. Paul Mazzeo, a neurologist treating the Appellant, who advised that Appellant suffered from Alzheimer's dementia, that family members had expressed concern, and that the Doctor believed Appellant's drivers' license should be revoked. As a result of that letter, the Department notified Appellant he would be required to submit medical statements. Reminder letters were sent before completed waivers and medical and vision test (R. pp. 70, 73). The Neurological Special Questionnaire Confidential portion of the Form 5008, however, was never sent to the Department despite additional reminders (R. pp. 47, ll. 21-22; 85; 87).

The Appellant also was tested by Beaufort Memorial's Registered and Licensed Occupational Therapist Richard Craner test for physical and mental capacity to drive on February 27, 2014. Craner found a number of physical and cognitive deficits and concluded that "with this presentation of multiple deficits, Mr. Vonharten may have difficulty driving safely and should consider refraining from driving at this time." (R. pp. 78). Specifically, Craner found that Appellant reported that he had numbness in both feet that occasionally affects his balance (R. pp. 74, 78). In addition, he found that Appellant failed the trunk cervical rotation in both directions (*Id.* at 74, 78). Craner found that on the

UB Coordination Minnesota Rate of Manipulation Test Appellant scored in the impaired range for placing and turning (R. p. 75), and that the Hooper Visual Organization test had a score of 23/30 indicating mild impairment (R. p. 77). He also noted that Appellant failed depth perception and color perception tests (R. p.76). He further found that Appellant passed one cognitive trail making test but failed another (test B) that was highly associated with poor driving performance and that Appellant failed the Montreal Cognitive Assessment test with a score of 21/30, a score correlated with Alzheimer's disease (R. p. 77).

This constitutes substantial evidence in the record as a whole supporting the decision to revoke Appellant's license. *O'Neal v. S.C. Dep't. of Social Services*, 323 S.C. 233, 437 S.E. 2d 127 (Ct. App. 1993) (where substantial evidence supports the decision of the administrative tribunal, the admission of other evidence, even if improper, does not change the result). Even if the Court ultimately agreed with Appellant that the letters from Dr. Masseo were improper hearsay or that certain notations on Craner's report about the concerns of a family member were also improper hearsay, there would still be substantial evidence supporting the Final Order and Decision of December 1, 2014. Interestingly, Appellant simultaneously objects to references to family members concern about Appellant's driving as hearsay, even though Appellant freely admits to the existence of concerns of family members (R. p. 79). Appellant invites this Court to indulge conspiracy theories about "bias of family members" (Appellant's Brief p. 8) despite the lack of a scintilla of evidence in the record that any family members' communications to Dr. Mazzeo were motivated by anything other than concern for Appellant's safety and that of the driving public.

Further, Appellant appears to claim that because the Department's inquiry came about by way of a document he alleges to be hearsay, some sort of infectious invalidity should prohibit the Department from further inquiry unless every fact and document involved is supported by testimony at hearing under oath and subject to cross examination. The Department received correspondence from Appellant's treating neurologist asserting that the Appellant's condition dictated that the Appellant could not drive safely. Appellant's apparent position is that if the Department does not make that doctor available at the OMVH hearing (and ostensibly for the consideration of the Medical Advisory Board as well) the Department should treat the doctor's correspondence as if it had never been received. The law and public safety demand a different result.

2. *THE PRESENCE IN THE RECORD OF LETTERS WRITTEN BY APPELLANT'S TREATING NEUROLOGIST SUGGESTING APPELLANT SHOULD NOT DRIVE AND STATING THAT APPELLANT'S FAMILY MEMBERS HAD EXPRESSED CONCERNS ABOUT APPELLANT'S DRIVING DO NOT CONSTITUTE REVERABLE ERROR.*

There are a myriad reasons Dr. Mazzeo's letters provide no basis for reversal.

First and foremost, it is not reversible because other evidence in the record constitutes substantial evidence to uphold the ruling, as set forth above.

Second, the letters were not offered to prove the matter asserted (that Appellant could not safely drive) but provided a logical progression to explain the actions of the Department and the Medical Advisory Board in determining whether or not Appellant could safely drive.

S. C. Code Ann. § 56-1-221 (C) provides as follows:

Having cause to believe that a licensed driver or applicant may not be physically or mentally qualified to be licensed, the Department of Motor Vehicles may obtain the advice of the board. The board may formulate its advice from records and reports or may cause an examination and report to be made by one or more members of the board or any other qualified person it may designate. The additional examination is at the expense of the applicant or licensed driver. The licensed driver or applicant may cause a written report to be forwarded to the board by a physician or optometrist of his choice, and it must be given consideration by the board.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-270 provides:

The Department of Motor Vehicles having good cause to believe that a person holding a South Carolina driver's license is incompetent or otherwise not qualified to be licensed because of physical or mental disability may, upon written notice of at least ten days to the licensee, require him to submit to an examination. Upon the conclusion of such examination the department shall take action as may be appropriate and may suspend or revoke the license of such person or permit him to retain such license or may issue a license subject to restrictions permitted under Section 56-1-170. The license of any person may be suspended or revoked if they refuse or neglect to submit to such an examination.

“Good cause” as stated in these sections does not specify that only sworn testimony subject to cross examination is sufficient. It does not even specify “probable cause.” If a treating neurologist tells the Department that his patient is a victim of Alzheimer’s dementia and cannot safely drive, public policy dictates that the Department make an inquiry to determine if that is true.

The commencement of an inquiry by the Department was not an indication that it credited or relied on the assertions of third parties referred to in Dr. Mazzeo’s letter. It merely meant that upon the written suggestion of a treating physician that Appellant’s physical or mental state suggested that he should not drive constituted sufficient cause to

begin an investigation into the allegation, which is exactly what the statute authorizes the Department to do.

In the same way, the Department of Revenue does not sanction a liquor store based on an allegation by a citizen that the store was open at 8:00 p.m., or law enforcement does not arrest a person on a report that the person was seen doing a drug deal at a place known to be a drug hangout. It is sufficient, however, to justify the agencies to make further inquiry. Out-of-court statements are not hearsay if they are offered for the limited purpose of explaining why a government investigation was undertaken. *State v. Brown*, 317 S.C. 55, 63, 451 S.E. 2d 888, 894 (1994); *State v. Rice*, 375 S.C. 302, 324, 652 S.E. 2d 409, 420 (Ct. App. 2007), *rev'd on other grounds*, 392 S.C. 438, 710 S.E. 2d 55 (2011).

In fact, the Hearing Officer made clear that she was aware of Respondent's hearsay objections and that she would disregard any hearsay within the letter but treat the portion expressing the doctor's medical opinion as subject to the medical exception (R. p. 43, l. 25 through p. 44, l. 3). Pursuant to OMVH Rule 16 B. and D. (available at <http://www.scomvh.net>) the record must contain all evidence received and considered, as well as evidence proffered, whether it is ultimately found objectionable or not. Thus, the Hearing Officer would have had to allow the letters into the record if proffered regardless of whether the letters were later found to be competent evidence. Judge Durden correctly pointed out that the Hearing Officer had stated that "anything that would be hearsay within the letter, I'll exclude, but as far as being offered, he does say in that he is reiterating his opinion that . . . [Appellant's] dementia precludes him from driving, I'm going to allow that." The Hearing Officer allowed the letters for the limited purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment under SCRE 803 (4) (R. p. 11). Appellant protests that the rule applies only to

words uttered to a doctor by a patient, not by a doctor to anyone else, citing *State v. Camele*, 293 S.C. 302, 360 S.E. 2d 307 (1987) (Appellant's Brief at 6). In that child sex abuse case, the hearsay rule was not solely in issue. At issue was the competence of the testimony of the very young child which the Court ruled the trial court had not properly qualified. The medical professional had testified that the child told her that his father had committed the sex act. The Court found this testimony to be improper because it was not material to the doctor's diagnosis, because the determination of who had or had not committed the act was not an issue in determining whether it had been done at all.

The current case presents a different issue. Modern medical practice gives consideration to the reports of family members, particularly regarding issues of capacity to drive:

Although, generally speaking, it is true that where an expert does not of his own knowledge know the facts upon which his opinion is based he cannot give his opinion except in response to a hypothetical question, *State v. King*, 158 S.C. 251, 155 S.E. 409 (1930), we think this rule has been limited in situations such as this by *Gentry v. Watkins-Carolina Trucking Co.*, 249 S.C. 316, 154 S.E.2d 112 (1967). In *Gentry*, the Supreme Court held that where a physician is consulted solely as a prospective witness, the physician's testimony as to the patient's statements about his present condition and past symptoms is not admissible as substantive proof of the facts so stated but is admissible as "information upon which he has relied in reaching his professional opinions." 249 S.C. at 324, 154 S.E.2d at 117.

We recognize that *Gentry* dealt with statements made by a patient to a physician; however, we see no practical reason why the logic of *Gentry* cannot be extended to a situation where, as here, an examining psychologist relied in part on information received from the patient and the patient's family.

Howle v. PYA Monarch, Inc., 288 S.C. 586, 595, 344 S.E. 2d 157, 162 (Ct. App. 1986).

It is noteworthy that Dr. Mazzeo was not hired by Appellant strictly for purposes

of litigation. In fact, when Dr. Mazzeo made his allegation, Appellant promptly sought a more favorable opinion from another doctor (R. p. 56, l. 13-p. 57, l. 3). Dr. Mazzeo was Appellant's attending neurologist who based his determination on his own observations and those of family members who reported to him, conclusions which were "of a type relied on by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences on the subject." *Howle, supra*, at 595, 344 S.E. 2d at 162.

Nevertheless, Appellant has offered no proof that the Hearing Officer gave the letters any specific weight over other evidence nor any weight at all in the face of other evidence clearly showing significant impairment.

In addition, *S.C. Code Ann.* § 1-23-380(A)(6) specifies that an appellate court can only reverse or modify the agency's determination when "substantial rights of the appellant have been *prejudiced* because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are [erroneous or illegal for various stated reasons]." Even if the record contains error, the finding is not reversible unless a party was prejudiced. Appellant was not prejudiced by the letters.

Appellant freely admitted under oath that he had been diagnosed with dementia (R. p. 55, l. 14 to p. 56, l. 6). The DI-7 Medical and Accident History report, as part of the Department's form 5008 Request for Medical Statements filed with the assistance of his own chosen family doctor signed by Appellant himself states that that Appellant had a history of blackouts and "doctors are unable to find out why." This portion of the form appears to be filled out in Appellant's own handwritten printing whereas portions filled out by Dr. Little appear quite small and in cursive. In the portion asking for "Summary of

Findings and Diagnosis.” Dr. Little listed “early dementia” and “history of syncopal episodes” (R. p. 83).

Despite the Department’s repeated requests, Appellant never sent a DI-6, Neurological Special Questionnaire Confidential portion of the Form 5008 Request for Medical Statements. There was some discussion of a second opinion by a Doctor Shissias (R. p. 47, l.4 to p. 48, l.3). Appellant testified he may have made or attempted to make an appointment with Dr. Mazzeo in March and said his current doctor was Dr. Shissias, but stated that he could not get Dr. Shissias to fill out the form (R. p. 56, l. 13 to p. 57, l. 3). Whether the questionnaire requested by the Department to allow it to evaluate Appellant’s neurological condition was ever actually prepared by either Dr. Mazzeo or Dr. Shissias, it was never forwarded to the Department. The permissible negative inference is that the results were or would have been unfavorable to Appellant. In any case, the failure or refusal to forward the Confidential Neurological Special Questionnaire in itself authorizes the revocation of the license. *See, S.C. Code Ann.* §56-1-270.

Appellant claims that concerns expressed by the family members were “biased.” He freely admitted, however, that these concerns existed (R. p. 79). It is noteworthy that on question 10 of the Driving Related Skills Questionnaire asking “Have your family members expressed concerns re: your ability to drive?” The box for the “yes” answer is checked with a handwritten notation “children and wife.” The notation is accompanied by the additional handwritten statement “wrong lane, back into other lane & cut off motorcyclist & on front of another car” and Mr. Vonharten signed the page. The statement attributed to Appellant’s daughter Tracy on the Occupational Therapy Driving Skills Assessment of various difficulties while driving (R. p. 74) was actually regarded as

objectionable by the Hearing Officer (R. p. 44, l. 9 to p. 45, l. 6). It is not clear from the record, however, whether these concerns were related by Appellant directly, or whether Tracy stated them to Mr. Craner in person in Appellant's presence, or whether the information was related by a telephone conversation. No evidence appears to show whether he was actually accompanied by Tracy on that visit. If that was not the case, the therapist either questioned Tracy in Appellant's presence without indicating Appellant denied the suggestions, or the therapist contacted Tracy at a later time. In any event, the difference is only a matter of degree. Having admitted that his family had expressed concerns about his driving, he cannot claim to be prejudiced by the mention of that issue in letters by his attending neurologist.

Finally, it is clear that the statutes involved with the Medical Advisory Board are incompatible with the strict enforcement of the hearsay rule that Appellant seeks to impose. In addition to *S. C. Code Ann.* §§ 56-1-221 and -270 quoted above, Section 56-1-221 additionally states in pertinent part:

(A) There is created an advisory board composed of thirteen members. One member must be selected by the Commissioner of the Department of Health and Environmental Control from his staff, ten members must be appointed by the South Carolina Medical Association, and two members must be appointed by the South Carolina Optometric Association. . . . *The identity of physicians and optometrists serving on the board, other than the administrative officer, may not be disclosed except as necessary in proceedings under Sections 56-1-370 or 56-1-410.* The members of the board may receive no compensation.

(B) The board shall advise the executive director of the Department of Motor Vehicles on medical criteria and vision standards relating to the licensing of drivers.

(C) *Having cause to believe that a licensed driver or applicant may not be physically or mentally qualified to be licensed, the Department of Motor Vehicles may obtain the advice of the board. The board may formulate its advice from records and reports or may cause an*

examination and report to be made by one or more members of the board or any other qualified person it may designate. The additional examination is at the expense of the applicant or licensed driver. The licensed driver or applicant may cause a written report to be forwarded to the board by a physician or optometrist of his choice, and it must be given consideration by the board.

(D) Members of the board and other persons making examinations are not liable for their opinions and recommendations presented pursuant to subsection (C).

(E) Reports received or made by the board or its members for the purpose of assisting the department in determining whether a person is qualified to be licensed are for the confidential use of the board and the department and may not be divulged to a person or used as evidence in a trial except that the reports may be admitted in proceedings under Sections 56-1-370 and 56-1-410, and a person conducting an examination pursuant to subsection (C) may be compelled to testify concerning his observations and findings in those proceedings.

(emphasis added)

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